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DK3ISION AND ORDER

On September 6, 1989, Local 387, Council 4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO (the Union)
filed a complaint with the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations (the
Labor Board) alleging that the State of Connecticut, Department of
Corrections (the State) had engaged and was engaging in practices prohibited
by the State Employee Relations Act (the Act). In substance, the Union
charged that the State had discriminated against an employee by denying a
request for union representation at an investigative interview which the
employee had a reasonable reason to believe would affect his job security.

After the requisite preliminary administrative steps had been taken,
the parties appeared before the Labor Board for a hearing on June 5, 1990,
at which the parties appeared and were represented. Full opportunity was
provided to present evidence , examine and cross-examine witnesses and make
argument. The parties filed post-hearing briefs, the last of which was
received on July 31, 1990.



On the basis of the entire record before us, we make the following
findings of fact, conclusions of law and order.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. The State is an employer within the meaning of the Act.

2. The Union is an employee organization within the meaning of the
Act, and is the exclusive bargaining agent for the Correction (NP-4)
bargaining unit.

3. Robert L. Silvestri has been employed as a correctional electrician
at the Cheshire Correctional facility for fourteen (14) years. (Tr.p.S)

4. At the time of the hearing, Silvestri was President of Local 387
and was its secretary in September of 1988. (Tr.p.6)

5. On September 2, 1988, Silvestri reported to work. Shortly
thereafter, he was shown a screwdriver by the maintenance foreman, George
Schneider. (Tr.p.6)

6. The Cheshire facility has a tool control policy. (Ex.2)

7. As'part of the tool control system, each employee is assigned a
number and that number is etched on all tools assigned to that employee.
(Tr.p.8) \

8. The screwdriver that Schneider showed Silvestri had the number
"CC7" crudely scratched on it. Silvestri's assigned number is CC7. (Tr.p.6)

9. Silverstri advised Schneider,at  this time that it looked like his
number, but it was not his screwdriver. (Tr.6-7)

10. Under the Tool Control Policy , a screwdriver is a Class R,
restricted tool, for which special care must be taken. @x.2, Tr.p.7)

11. The loss or misplacement of a Class R tool can result in employee
discipline, since such a tcol  may become a dangerous weapon in the hands of
an inmate. (Tr.p.7,13,  Ex.5,6,7,8)

12. After Schneider showed Silvestri the screwdriver, Silvestri went
to his work assignment. (Tr.p.8)

13. Schneider then showed the screwdriver to Lt. Spears. Schneider
told Spears that he had shown the tool to everyone in Maintenance and that
Silvestri had said it looked like his number, but that it was not his
screwdriver. (Tr.p.59)

14. About 12:15  P.M. on the same day, Lt. Spears asked Silvestri to
appear for an unscheduled tool  audit. (Tr.p.9)
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15. Tool audits are normally conducted on a monthly basis at the
beginning of the work day, before employees have gone to work assignments,
and are conducted according to a pre-announced schedule. (Tr.p.10, Ex.4)

16. Silvestri requested Union representation for the tool audit.
(Tr.p.11)

17. Although a Union steward was called to the area, Lt. Spears
refused to allow him to be present for the audit and acknowledged to
Silvestri that he was denying union representation for the audit. (Tr.p.11)

(Tr.p%)
The audit was conducted, and no tools were found to be missing.

19. Union representation is not customary for tool audits. (Tr.p.18)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. An employee represented by a statutory bargaining agent has a
statutory right pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stats. Sections 5-271(a) and 5-272
(a) (1) of the Act Concerning Collective Bargaining for State Employees, to
be accompanied by that representative at an interview requested by the
employer to elicit information from the employee when the employee
reasonably believes that the meeting may jeopardize his or her job security,
subject to the conditions placed upon that right by NLRB  v. Weingarten,
Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 88 Ll?BM  2689 (1975), and ILGWU v. Quality Mfg. Co., 420
U.S. 276, 88 LFZRM  2698 (1975).

2. The tool audit conducted on September 2, 1988 of Bobert  L.
Silvestri by the State was an investigatory interview about which Silvestri
reasonably held the belief that it could lead to discipline or jeopardy to
his employment.

3. The tool  audit of September 2, 1988 deprived Silvestri of his
rights under Conn. Gen. Stat. Section 5-271(a) and constituted a prohibited
practice under Corm  Gen. Stat. Section 5-272(a) (1) of the Act by depriving
Silvestri of his right to have a union representative present during the
interview.

DISCUSSION

This case turns factually upon whether, under the circumstances,
Silvestri had reasonable reason to believe that the unscheduled tool audit
which was conducted on September 2, 1988 would result in disciplinary action
or jeopardy to his job security. We believe that his beliefs were
imminently reasonable, and for the reasons set forth below, enter an
appropriate order.
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In Trumbull Board of Education, Decision No. 1635 (1978),  we adopted
the rule established i n , 420 U.S. 251, 88 LRRM  1689
(1975),  and its companion case, IGLWU v. Quality Manufacturing Co. 420 U.S.
276, 88 LRRM 2698 (1975). In Weingarten, supra, the United States Supreme
Court sustained the extension of Section 7 protection to employees who
request union representation at employer-initiated investigatory interviews
which the employees reasonably fear might result in disciplinary action.

Our Connecticut Supreme Court has on numerous occasions held that while
the language of our state labor relations acts is essentially the same as
that contained in the National Labor Relations Act, "...the  judicial
interpretation frequently accorded the federal act is of great persuasive

teroretation of our own acts. New Canaan v. CSBLR, 160 Cforce-in the in:---,-------..  -- _--  _ ~~  -~-  ~.
285, 291, 278 A.2d  761; Windsor v. Windsor Police-Department Employees

:onn  .

Assn., Inc., 154 Conn. 530, 536, 227 A.2d  65; Imnerial  Laundry, Inc. v.
CSBLR;  142 Conn. 457, 460,.115  A.2d  439" (e*h
Education Assn., Inc. v. DeCourcy,  162 Conn. 566, 579 (1972). See
generally, Darcy,  Foy, James and Kingston, Connecticut Labor Relations
Statutes and Decisions: Differences from Federal Law, 9 Conn. L. Rev. No. 4
(1977), pp. 515-544. It was for that reason and because we felt that the
same purposes underlie our state labor relations statutes, that we adopted
the ruling in Weingarten.

Weingarten reasoned that the right to this type of union representation
flowed from the basic purpose of Section 7 of the NLRA  which protects the
right of employees  "to-engage in . . . concerted activities for . . . mutual aid
and protection .., and that an employer's denial of such representation
constitutes a violation of Section 8(a)(l)  of the NLRA." In State Dept. of
Education and State Vocational Fed. of Teachers, Decision No. 2165, (1982),
we held that because the purposes of our state labor relations statutes are
similar to those of the NLRA  and virtually identical language to that
contained in sections 7 and 8(a) of the NLRA  is contained in our analogous

. state acts, employzes under our jurisdiction are entitled by state law to
these same rights. Whenever individual employees are called in for
investigatory interviews which they reasonably believe may culminate in
discipline, those individuals may lawfully insist upon the presence of shop
stewards before any questioning may occur. The employer may refuse to
permit the union representation by either terminating the interview or by
making continuation of the interview purely voluntary on the part of the
employee.

1 29 U.S.C.  157.

2 The parallel provisions of the State Employee Act are at Conn. Gen. Stats.
Sections  5-271(a) and 5-272(a)(l).
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Thus, two conditions must be met before this Board will find a
violation of the Act by,way  of denial of an employee’s right to
representation at an investigatory interview. First, the employee must have
s,oecifically  requested union representation, and second, he must have a
reasonable basis to believe disciplinary action could result from an
employer-initiated investigatory interview. Town of Watertown, Decision No.
1787 (1979); East Hartford Board of Education, Decision No. 1664 (1978);
Trumbull Board of Education, sunra.-

The State admits that it denied representation after a request was made
by Silvestr i , but argues first, that the ‘tool audit conducted was not an
investigatory interview, a nd second that he did not have reasonable reason
to believe he might be subject to discipline.

Turning now to the State’s defense, it is initially argued that
Silvestri did not have a right to union representation at the tool audit
because it was not an “investigatory interview” as required by Weingarten,
supra. According to the State , a tool audit is a normal procedure  for
accounting for the tools, a routine administrative procedure for which union
representation is never provided. Only if the audit shows that tools  are
not accounted for is an investigation conducted which can result in
discipline.

In support of this assertion, the State submitted with its post-hearing
brief, an earlier arbitration decision ostensibly interpreting the relevant
portion of an earlier version of the parties’ collective bargaining
agreement as the equivalent of its narrow definition of an “investigatory
interview”. Since this document was never offered or introduced into
evidence by the State during the hearing , we are unable to consider it as
part of the record in this proceeding. COM. Gen. Stats. Sections 4-177 and
4-178, Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, Sections 5-273-45 through
5-273-71. However, we muld note that the issue before us is one over which
we have primary jurisdiction; it does not depend on contract interpretation
or application; it is also a breach of the Act, without regard to the
contract, as construed by this Board which has adopted the authoritative
construction by NLRB and the United States Supreme Court of similar federal
legislation. As such, we would be extremely reticient  to defer to
arbitration regarding an individual right of such statutory origin, and even
under limited circumstances, only by strict adherence as we adopted for
deferral to arbitration as set forth in New Fairfield Board of Education,
Decision No. 1666 (1978).

While arguably a routine tool audit might not be characterized as an
investigatory interview which would give rise to rights under Weingarten, we
do not find that the audit to which Mr. Silvestri was subjected on September
2, 1989, to be such an audit. In determining under what circumstances
whether a reasonable basis exists for believing that the investigatory
interview will result in disciplinary action, the U.S. Supreme Court has
stated that the inquiry must be based upon “objective standards” and upon a
reasonable evaluation of “all the circumstances”, and not merely the
subjective reaction of the employee. Weingarten, supra, p.257 n.5.
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Returning to the cogent facts, Silvestri's foreman showed him a
screwdriver which looked as if it had Silvestri's control number scratched
onto it. Silvestri told the supervisor that the screwdriver was not his and
went to work. Soon thereafter, he was called to an unscheduled tool audit.
Objectively, we believe he reasonably concluded that the audit concerned the
screwdriver he had been shown earlier in the day. He asked the supervisor
who called him to the audit why he was being called but got an evasive
answer about "looking for a tool". In Baton Rouge Water Works Co., 246 NI2.B
995, 103 LRRM  1056 (1979), the NLRB  determined that Weingarten rights attach
when an employer either (1) seeks facts or evidence in support of
disciplinary action, (2) attempts to have an employee admit to alleged
wrongdoing or sign a statement to that effect, or (3) seeks to have the
employee sign statements as to other matters such as workers compensation.
The tool audit here was clearly an evidence gathering exercise with either a
present or future &potential for discipline. Silvestri reasonably concluded
that his superiors believed he had some connection to the screwdriver and
were looking for confirmation before disciplining him. In this particular
situation, the audit conducted by Silvestri's superiors and specially
arranged for him, gave rise to Weingarten rights.

Several other conditions of the audit made it reasonable for Silvestri
to conclude that he faced discipline if the outcome of the audit was not
favorable. First, when he asked the reason for the audit, he was not told
that it was connected to the stray screwdriver, but was given an evasive
answer. The State's witness, Captain Benwell,  testified that he and Lt.
Spears decided to do a tool audit to "help" Silvestri. They believed that
there were rumors concerning the screwdriver and that the best way to put
such rumors to rest would be to audit Silvestri's tools and determine that
all was well, Benwell  admitted that he had never previously performed a
.tool audit for the benefit of the employee audited, and the foreman
testified that he had never heard of an audit being conducted for the
purpose of clearing someone's name. We find this testimony to be somewhat
incredible. It is hard to imagine why a tool audit would quiet rumors
rather than adding fuel to any speculation which might have existed. Even
if this were the reason for the audit, it is hard to imagine why Silvestri
could not be told the truth instead of being given an answer which increased
his fears.

Where a particular interpretation of the NLRA  has been given frequent
recognition by the federal courts, we will continue to accord that
interpretation the consideration which the Connecticut Supreme Court has
stated we should. We do not believe, however, that the Court intended that
we slavishly follow any single federal court decision interpreting the XLRA
simply because that interpretation exists. This Board is invested with
authority and discretion under the Connecticut General Statutes to interpret
our state labor relations statutes and this responsibility, we believe,
carries with it the exercise of independant judgement where controlling
judicial precent  does not restrict our discretion.

In this regard, several federal decisions have clarified the meaning of
the term "investigatory interview" as initially articulated in Weingarten,
while others have developed a bcdy  of case law providing greater guidance
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regarding those circumstances in which a reasonable belief exists to
anticipate either disciplinary action or a threat to job security. We find
these decisions to be persuasive and helpful in dispsing  of the issues
presented in this case and adopt them as we discuss infra, as our own.

in  Amoco Oil Co., 278 NLLRB  1, 121 LRRM 1308 (1986), the NLRB  determined
that the employer violated the Act when it denied representation  and had no
present intention to impose discipline where employees  summoned had a
reasonable reason to believe they might be disciplined for substantial
damages caused by an improper boiler startup. In Lennox Industries v. NLRB,
637 F2d 340, 106 LRWI  2607 ((X5,1951),  enforcing 244 NLRB 607, 102 LREW  1298
(1979), cert. denied, 452 U.S. 963, 107 Lm4 1308 (1986), the fifth Circuit
Court of Appeals held that an employer was required to honor an employee's
request for representation at the investigatory interview even where there
was no present intention to discipline the employee as a result of the
interview if it might reasonably result in discipline then or in the
future. Thus, the State's testimony taken in its most favorable light fails
to relieve it of the obligation to accord representation upn  request
irrespective of any present i ntention to discipline Silvestri. Secondly,
Captain Benwell  also testified that he and Lt. Spears met with Silvestri in
the morning to inspect the screwdriver. At that meeting, Benwell  testifi&
that they assured Silvestri that he had nothing to worry about, that they
agreed that the screwdriver was not his. If this testimony is to be
believed, then it weighs in favor of the State. Silvestri insisted in sharp
contrast, however, that he was not present at any such meeting, and his
foreman had no knowledge that he left the work area for any meeting. The
State did not present Lt. Spears' testimony to corroborate that the meeting
actually took place or that Silvestri was present, and from this we infer
that such a meeting did not take place. See Secondino v. New Haven Gas Co.,
141 Conn. 672, 675, 165 A2d.  598, 600 (1960).

Under these circumstances, we find that Silvestri's fears that he might
be subject to discipline were reasonable. Therefore, he should have been
allowed union representation for the audit , and the State's refusal to grant
his request violates the Act. Accordingly, we enter an appropriate  order.

ORDER

By virtue of and pursuant to the power vested in the Connecticut State
Board of Labor Relations by the State Employee Relations Act, it is hereby

ORDERED, that the State of Connecticut, Department of Corrections,
shall:

I. Cease and desist from failing and refusing to allow union
representation for unscheduled tool  audits when requested by an employee and
for other investigative meetings when an employee reasonably believes they
may result in discipline;

II. Take the following affirmative action which the Labor Board finds
will effectuate the policies of the Act:
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(a) Post immediately and leave posted for a period of sixty (60)
consecutive days from the date of posting, in a conspicuous place where the
employees customarily assemble , a copy of this Decision and Order in its
entirety; and

(b) Notify the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations at its
office at 200 Folly Brook Boulevard, Wethersfield, Connecticut, within
thirty (30) days of the receipt of this Decision and Order of the steps
taken by the State of Connecticut to comply therewith.

CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR RELATIONS

By s/Patricia V. Low
Patricia V. Low,  Chairman

s/Susan R. Meredith
Susan R. Meredith

s/Ann McCormack
AnnMcCormack

TO:

Raymond A. Meany, Jr., Dir. of Personnel and L.R.
State Office Building, Room 403
Hartford, Ct. 06106

Peter Allen, L.R. Operations Manager
State of Ct.-DAS
Office of Labor Relations
One Hartford Square West
Hartford, Ct. 06106

Frank Bochniewicz, L.R. Specialist
State of Ct.-DAS
Office of Labor Relations
One Hartford Square West
Hartford, Ct. 06106

Dominick Badolato, Executive Director
Local 387, Ct. Council 4, AFSCME, AFL-CIO
444 East Main Street
New Britain, Ct. 06051

Robert Silvestri, Secretary
Local 387, Ct. Council 4, AFSCI&,  AFL-CIO
P.O. Box 491
Cheshire, Ct. 06410

Birbara  J. Collins, Attorney
Law Offices of Gagne & Collins
207 Washington Street
Hartford, Ct. 06106

CERTIFIED (Rw)

CERTIFIED (RRR)
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